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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION

JOHN NORTHRUP, individually and on
behalf of a class of similarly situated
individuals,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No: 8:16v-1890-T-36JSS
Innovative Health Insurance Partners, LLC;
CyberX Group, LLC; David E. Lindsey; and

Independent Truckers Group, Inc.,

Defendants.
/

ORDER

This causecomes before the Court up&aintiff's Motion for Class Certificatior{Doc.
54), Defendants’response in opposition (DoB9), andPlaintiff's regdy (Doc. 62), as well as
Plaintiff's Supplemeritto Motion for Class Certification (Doc. 74) and Defendants’ response in
opposition (Doc. 75)Plaintiff argues that thisase is appropriate for class certification bec#use
meets allof the requirements under Federal Rule of Civil ProcedureTB8. Court having
consideredral arguments, the parties’ submissiarg] being fully advised in the premisesl|
grantPlaintiff’'s Motion for Class Certification

I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff, John Northrug“Plaintiff”) , on behalf of himself and all others similasiyuated

brings this actiomagainst Defendanhnovative Health Insurance Partners, LLC (“Innovative”),

Defendant CyberX Group, LLC (“CyberX”), Defendant David E. Ledg‘Lindsey”), and

1 The Court ordered Plaintiff to file a supplemental submission followinheheng because the class definitizas
unclear and had beedited multiple time®etweeroral argument and when Plaintiff filed his moti&@e Doc. 71.
The Court also allowebBefendants to file a response.
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Defendant Independent Truckers Group, Inc. (“Independent Truckers”) (collectively,
“Defendants”) for violations of the Telephone Consumer Protection(AECPA”), 47U.S.C. §
227¢et seq.

The SecondAmended Complaint alleges the following factual allegatidPigintiff
received a text message on his cellular telephone on June 30, 2017 at 2:40 p.m. eas0.tim
38 at 1 32. The text message readattHthe high price of Obama Care? Call for a free $250
rewards card and free healthcare quote. TRUCKER plans start less tham$B¢ha214396-
6822.” Doc. 38 at  32. Plaintiff did not consent to receive the text message. Doc. 38 ah®136. W
he receivd it, he called the phone number listed therein. Doc. 38 at  33. Plaintiff spoke to a
representative, who said that the text message had been sent on behalf of Imd&pankiers.

Doc. 38 at 1 33.

The text message was related to a healthcare product maintained by Independers.Truck
SeeDoc. 38 at 11 1-47. Independent Truckers had outsourced the functions related to the product
to Innovative Health. Doc 38 at { 17. Innovative, in turn, decided to market Independents rucker
and its healthcare product via text message. Doc. 38 at  17. To accomplishnthigtive
contracted with CyberX to execute the camgp and send the text message. Doc. 38 at  17.
Innovative drafted the content of the text message, and CyberX sent the teagen&sx:. 38 at
1 17.The text message was placed with an automatic telephone dialing systEBS()ADoc.

38 at 1 37.

Plaintiff believes that thousandsf people, if not more, received an unsolicited text
message from Defendants through the use of an ATDS. Doc. 38 ad®%Y 48; Doc. 54 at p.;5
Doc. 74 at p. 2Plaintiff proposs thefollowing class

All cellular telephone subscribers in the United States who had a phone number
listed in the Call Logs (filed at Docket Nos.-54hrough 549), where the Call



Logs’ entry for the phone number reflects that the June 30, 2017 “Obama Care”

text message waslélivered” in the “Status” column; and where the phone

number was assigned to a cell phone (as opposed to a landline or VoIP line) on

June 30, 2017.
Doc. 74 at p. 1.

[I. LEGAL STANDARD

A district court has broad discretion in determining whether to certifgss.\Washington
v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 959 F.2d 1566, 1569 (11th Cir. 1998)class action may
be maintained only when it satisfies aflthe requirements of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
23(a) and at least one of the requirements of Rule 23#eBusby v. JRHBW Realty, Inc., 513
F.3d 1314, 1321 (11th Cir. 2008). The initial burden of proof to establish the propriety of class
certification rests with the Plaintifsee Wal-Mart Sores, Inc. v. Dukes, 564 U.S. 338, 350 (2011).

As a theshold issue, Plaintiff must demonstrate that the proposed class is “adequately
defined and clearly ascertainabléittle v. T-Mobile USA, Inc., 691 F.3d 1302, 1304 (11th Cir.
2012). The party seeking to maintain the class action must affirmatively demonsisate h
compliance with Rule 23d. The party must be prepared to prove that thereiafact sufficiently
numerous parties, common questions of law or fact, typicality of claims or deferdesleguacy
of representatiaras required by Rule 23(a)Comcast Corp. v. Behrend, 569 U.S. 27, 33 (2013)
(emphasisn original). As explained ivalley Drug Co. v. Geneva Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Rule 23
“establishes the legal roadmap courts must follow when determining whetbgecetéfication is
appropriate.” 350 F.3d 1181, 1187 (11th Cir. 2003).

Under Rule 23(a), a class may be certified only if:

(1) the class is so numerous that joinoleall members is impracticable;

(2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class;

(3) the claims or defenses of the representative parties are typical of the ctai
defenses of the class; and



(4) the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the istexfetste
class.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a).
1. DISCUSSION
a. Standing

“For a district court to certify a class action, the named plaintiffs must baveisg, and
the putative class must meet each of the requirements specified in Raderal Civil Procedure
23(a), as well as at least one of the requirements set forth in Rule 2&dg.V. T-Mobile USA,

Inc., 564 F.3d 1256, 1265 (11th Cir. 2009¢e also Prado-Seiman ex rel. Prado v. Bush, 221
F.3d 1266, 1279 (11th Cir. 2000) (“[Rdr to the certification of a class, and technically speaking
before undertaking any formal typicality or commonality review, the distoigrt must determine
that at least one named class representative has Article Il standing to raiseeashiotian.”).

The plaintiff bears the burden of proving the three elements of stari@limg:plaintiff must have
(1) suffered an injury in fact, (2) that is fairly traceable to the challenged dosidhe defendant,
and (3) that is likely to be redressed by a favorable judicial decis$pokéo, Inc. v. Robins, 136

S. Ct. 1540, 1547 (2016).

Defendants arguthat the proposed class improperly attempts to include individuals who
may not havesuffered a concrete injury8ecause Plaintiff has not explained how ili satisfy
standing for each proposed member, Defendants aRjaigtiff fails to meethis burden.But
Plaintiff need not show at this stage that every possible class member hagysg&edrandolph
v. J.M. Smucker Co., 303 F.R.D. 679, 691 (S.D. Fla. 2014) (“Defendant fails to direct the Court to
any binding precedent requiring a district court to make a speculative aeteom on whether
every putative class member can maintain Article Il standing, and the Gaurable to locate

the same. Some ods have found that the class should be defined in such a manner that anyone



within it would have standing. . While the Eleventh Circuit has not directly tackled the issue of
whether a plaintiff must demonstrate that putative class members have Artitéandling at the
class certification stage, it has indicated that a district court must, at a minimurtistoedsthat

at least one named plaintiff has Article Il standin@internal citations omittegt) Coleman v.
Cannon Qil Co., 141 F.R.D. 516, 524 (M.D. Ala. 1992) (citidgnerican Pipe & Constr. Co. v.

Utah, 414 U.S. 538 (197%)“The defendants also suggest that each member of the plaintiff class
must satisfy an individualized standing inquiry. Authority to the contrary awatlthe clearer.”).

Defendantgurtherarguethat Plaintiffand the clasdo not have standing becau®aintiff
has not shown that merely sending a teelssageauses a cognizable, definite injuryhile a
plaintiff does not necessarily “automatically satisfy the injuryact requirement whenever a
statute grants a person a statutory right,” a plaintiff “need not allggadditional harm beyond
the one Congress had identifie@jokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1549 (emphasis in original).

After Spokeo, district courts in the Eleveni@ircuit, including at least one inighdistrict,
havecontinued to hold that the receipt of an unsolicited text message, withoutamosétutes
an injury.Preman v. Pollo Operations, Inc., No. 6:16€v-443-0rl-41GJK,2018 WL 3151673at
*6 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 12, 2018]plaintiff's injury was receiving the text messagd@gmosv. Hopele
of Fort Lauderdale, LLC, No. 1762100¢v, 2018 WL 1383188, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 19, 2018)
(deeming defendants’ otion to compel forensic examination of plaintiff's cédir phone
unnecessaryhere defendants wanted to collect informatmshowan absence of any injuig-
fact because district courts have held tlaat injury-in-fact is shown simply by receiving the
unwanted text messag€&ordoba v. DirecTV, LLC, 320 ER.D. 582 594(N.D. Ga. 2017)appeal
filed, No. 1812077;Mohamed v. Off Lease Only, Inc., No. 1523352¢v, 2017 WL 1080342at

*2 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 22, 207



Defendants arguinatthe aforementioned district court opinions are in error because they

rely on Palm Beach Golf Center-Boca, Inc. v. Sarris, D.D.S, P.A., an Eleventh Circuit case

decided befor&ookeo which heldthatan injury occursvhen a fax is sentvithout morepecause

sending the fax “ties up” the maching81 F.3d 1245, 12583 (11th Cir. 2015]*“This occupation

of Plaintiff's fax machine is among the injuries intended to be prevented HyGERA] . . ..").

However,unlike a fax line, Defendants argue, a text mgss#oes not “tie up” any line.

But as noted irCordoba, courtsoutside the Eleventh Circuit have similarly heidce

Sookeo thatreceipt of a text message sanviolation of the TCPAcreate aninjury sufficient for

purpose of Article 1l 320 F.R.D at 595 (collecting casesMoreover,the logic behindthe

application ofPalm Beach to other modes ainsolicitedcommunications, such as text messages,

has been explainday other courts:

[Defendant] maintains that . . . Plaintiff has failed te@d that the [class members]
suffered anything more than a “bare procedural violation” within the meaning of
Sookeo . . . . But the Eleventh Circuit has previously rejected the nearly
indistinguishable argument that receipt of a “junk fax” sent in violation of the
TCPA—even where that fax is never printed or seen by its intended reetpient
constitutes sufficient harm to provide standing. As the court explain®dlim

Beach, Congress has made clear that a plaintiff need not suffer any monetary loss
in order to recover statutory damages under the TCPA, instead, because processing
a junk fax renders a persarfax machine temporarily unavailable, and because the
TCPA was intended in part “to protect citizens from the loss of the use of their fa
machines duringhe transmission of fax data,” the mere receipt of a junk fax is
among those injuries “intended to be prevented by the statute. asdfficiently
personal or particularized to [plaintiff] as to provide standing.”

Although the Eleventh Circuit has tnevisited its holding irPalm Beach since
Sookeo was decided, an overwhelming majority of courts . . . have continued to
hold that the mere receipt of faxes, telemarketing calls, and/or text messages in
violation of the TCPA constitutes sufficient harror fpurposes of Article Il
standing. . . .

The same logic applies to unsolicited telephone calls: just as a junk fax randers
fax machine temporarily unavailable, a call placed in violation of the FEPA
whether or not a person has taken any affirmative steps to avoiddeprives its
recipient of time, mental energy, and privacy. Indeed, in enacting the TCPA,



Congress made specific findings that “unrestricted telemarketing can be an

intrusive invasion of privacy” and a “nuisance,” and gave consunpergade right

of action to redress this harm even where they have suffered no monetary loss.

Thus, the Court finds that “[u]nsolicited telemarketing phone calls or textgess

by their nature, invade the privacy and disturb the solitude of their recipients,” and

that a plaintiff alleging a violation under the TCPA therefore need not “allege a

additional harm beyond the one Congress has identified” in order to establish

Article 11l standing.

Id. at 59596 (internal citations omitted$ee also Mohamed, 2017 WL 1080342, at *P (“Though
Sookeo cautioned that actual harm may not arise from every statutory scheme,nisgndoes
not apply here. Far from a ‘bare procedural violation,” Plaintiff's cass|ving unsolicited text
messages and caligjolves the substantive privacy rights the TCPA was enacted to protect. What
is more, the [Eleventh Circuit] has rejected claims that T@#&#ted harms like Plaintiff's are de
minimis.” (internal citations omitted)kEtzel v. Hooters of Am., LLC, 223 F.Supp. 3d 1306, 1312
(N.D. Ga. 2016) (“[E]ven if Plaintiff did not incur charges because of the unwanteduey; s
Plaintiff's battery was depleted and time was wasted while reading and despdn the text.
Moreover, Plaintiff expressly alleged in tBemplaint that he suffered ‘an invasion of [ ] privacy.’
Finally, even if the unwanted text did not impair the functionality of Plaintiflsghone, the text
still intruded upon and occupied the capacity of Plaintiff's cell phone. Thereforéggscsnding
of text messages in violation of the TCPA constitutes an injufgct to the recipient so as to
provide Article 11l standing.” (internal citation omitted)).

Simply, Defendants offer n@ason fothe Courtto depart from the reasoning of fedlow
district courts applyindgeleventh Circuit precedenttere, Plaintiff alleges that delivery of the text
message resulted in a concrete and particularized injury to him, spécifivahsion of privacy,
wasted time, unwarranted distraction, aggravadimhdistress, unavailability of his cellular phone

while it was receiving the unauthorized text message, depletion of thergelialee’s battery, and

potential financial loss in the form of increased charges from his cellulaeptasrier Plaintiff



further alleges that members of the class were harmed by the text messageunetimasiner.
Plaintiff has therefore sufficiently alleged an injury in fact on behakliofself and theclass.
Moreover, such injury is fairly traceable to the conduct of Defendants givene¢batans and
evidentiary support that Defendants sent or caused the text message to belasniftamd the
class. Finally, given that eadllegedviolation of the TCPA is subject to statutory damages,
Plaintiff's and the class’sdmms ardikely to be redressed by a favorable judicial decisiRiaintiff
and the class have standing.

b. Adequately Defined and Clearly Ascertainable

The Eleventh Circuibasstatedthat “a class is not ascertainable unless the class definition
contains ofective criteria that allow for class members to be identified in an administratively
feasible way.”Karhu v. Vital Pharm,, Inc., 621 FedAppx. 945, 946 (11th Cir. 2015\ district
court’s task todentify class members is administratively feasible whisra “manageable process
that does not require much, if any, individual inquitg” (internal quotation marks omitted).

Here, the class is adequately defined and clearly ascertainable: the class members are
limited to subscribers afpecificcellular telephone numberswaich a specifidext messageas
delivered ora specific dateNearly all of this informatior-the telephone numbgithe content of
the text message, whether the message was delivered, and the date of the-essadity
determinable through the spreadsheets Plaintiff proviol¢ide Court. Doc. 5%; Doc. 546; Doc.

54-7; Doc. 548; Doc. 549.2 Moreover, Plaintiff has explained that the identities ofildéviduals
associated with the listed phone numbirsidentifiable via an additional spreadsheet that

Defendants produced Plaintiff. Doc. 74 at p. 5; Doc. 74 at 1 67. That spreadsheet, Plaintiff

2 This case, therefore, is distinguishable frelmight v. Bluestem Brands, Inc., which Defendants rely on. No. 6:13
cv-14000rl-28KRS, 2015 WL 12830482, at %8 (M.D. Fla. May 14, 2015) (report and recommendation rejected
plaintiff's reliance on defendant'veasonably availableomputerized account recofd® identify class members
where plaintiff had not explained how the class could be identified pursLidnoserecords.
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represents, contains additional contact information, includisgpciatednames and mailing
addresses, for 99.4 percent of the listed telephone numbers. Doc. 74 at p. 5;-Dat .{T4é/.
Indeed, other courts have accepted less straightforward methods of idgntihss members.
E.g., Keimv. ADF MidAtlantic, LLC, No. 1280577-cv,2018 WL 6333658, at *4 (S.D. Fla. Dec.
3, 2018)(subpoenaing phone carriers for records to identify subscribers of cellulasindieée
numbers);Reyes v. BCA Fin. Servs,, Inc., No. 16-24077-cv,2018 WL 3145807, at *134 (S.D.
Fla. June 26, 2018) (using celluf@rone numbers to investigate aduhal contact information for
the subscribers through use of an expert).

Defendants argue the class is not ascertainable because Plaintiff has nadademiEthod
to determine which of the listed phone numbers were assigned to cellular phonegra the t
text message was delivered. To the contrary, Plaintiff has described that efabsnimay be
objectivelyidentified by reference to a subscriber’'s monthly statement which \sileovd whether
thelistedphone numbewas associated with a cellular telephone on the date the text message was
delivered

Defendants also argue that Plaintiff does not explain how he witldguish between
those who own the cellular telephone number (“ownestithose who regularly use the cellular
telephone numbdsutwho may not own i(“regular users”)Moreover, Defendantonclude any
such attempt to identify who is an “owner” and who is a “regular user” wouttrdaeght with
individualized inquiry.”Doc. 75 at p. 4But such informatiorcould beobtained from cell phone
carrier documentation, or from inquiries sabscribersSee Keim, 2018 WL 6333658, at *7
(carriers can identify users of each cellular phone number on an acctiwmirdormationcan be

obtained through inquiry from the ownemhere is no evidence in this case that such inquiries



would not be administratively feasible, and Defendants do not explain why theydbeét such
a process would benpermissibly‘individualized.”
c. Reguirementsunder Rule 23(a)

The Court will examine the following to determine whether this case satisfies the
requirements forclass certification under Rule 23(a): (1) numergs{B) commonality,(3)
typicality and (4) adequacyinesv. Widnall, 334 F.3d 1253, 1255-56 (11th Cir. 2003).

i. Numerosity and Impracticability of Joinder

Rule 23 requires that “the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable.”Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1A plaintiff seeking class certification dsnot need to
know the exact size of the proposed cl&ss.Agan v. Katzman & Korr, P.A., 222 F.R.D. 692,
696 (S.D. Fla. 2004). While the size of the proposed class is relevant to’a detetmination,
other factors such as “the geographic diversity of the class members, tleeaidhe action, the
size of each plaintifé claim, judicial economy and the inconvenience of trying individual lawsuits,
and the ability of the individual class members to institute individual lawsuits’idlaso be
consideed. Id. Generally, more than forty putative class members is adedi@te. Am. Cast
Iron Pipe Co., 784 F.2d 1546 (11th Cir. 1986).

Defendarg argue that Plaintiff fails to establish the numerosity requirement basibe on
sameascertainability issuesnamely, thatPlaintiff is unable to show who is a class member
discussedupra, however, thelass members are identifiable and the clasdearly defined and
ascertainable. The recosthmilarly supports numerosityt is known that the same text megsa
was delivered to 2,717 phone numbersa certain dateDoc. 54 at p. 7The only remaining
guestion is whether the phone numbers the text message was delivered to were @assaijiodar

phones. Buieven assumingrguendo that onlyfour percent of thse telephone numbers were

10



assigned taellular phone numberghe classvould still be well over fortySee Doc. 59 at p. 9
(Defendants’ sample suggesting that six of listed phone numbers were not cellular phone
numbers based on “public recaervices”) As to the additional consideratigr¥aintiff indicates
that the text message was sent to phone nunabsogiated with locatiorieroughout the United
Statesand class members would likely not initiate individual lawsuits given the staartaynt
and single alleged violatioRlaintiff has satisfied Rule 23(a)humerosity requirement.

ii. Common Questions of Law and Fact

The commonality requirement typically “refers to the group of charatiteyiof the class.”
Prado-Steiman, 221 F.3dat 1279 To satisfy the commonality requirement, “a class action must
involve issues that are susceptible to lagle proof.”Murray v. Auslander, 244 F.3d 807, 811
(11th Cir. 2001). However, it is not necessary that all members of the class havelidéatis.
Prado-Seiman, 221 F.3d at 1279. 14. Commonality, like typicality, focuses “on whether a
sufficient nexus exists between the legal claims of the named class represgmtatithose of
individual class membersltl. at 1278.

Defendantscontend thaPlaintiff fails to meet the commonality requirements because
some proposed class members lack standind determining standing for the remaining class
members requires impermissible individualized inquiries. As discissiped, however Plaintiff
need not prove the standing of every proposed class member at thidvkiegmver,there is no
evidence that inquirie®lated to standing would be unfeasible or impermissibly individualized.

A sufficient nexus exists hetgetween Plaintiff andhe class member®laintiff asserts
common questions of fact among the class memtoerd)jom the same text message was delivered

at the same timerhe common legal questions include whether Defesdanfated theTCPA

11



when they sent the class memberg ttext messagePlaintiff hasthus satisfied Rule 23(&3
commonality requirement.
iii. Typicality

“The typicality requirement is satisfied if ‘the claims or defenses otléss and class
representative arise from the same event or pattern or practice &rd@reon the same theory.”
Agan, 222 F.R.D. at 698 (quotingornberg v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc., 741 F.2d 1332, 1337
(11th Cir. 1984)). Even if the fact patterns are unique to each claim, if the clasemégtres and
class members experienced saene unlawful condudie typicality requirement will be satisfied
Id. at 698.

Defendants argue that Plaintiff fails to show he is “typical” of the classusedit is not
clear that he was a “subscribe$his June phone bill is addressed to naene & his company,
Angies’s Transportation. Doc9EL. But the phone bill is also addressed to Plaintiff. Doe159
Moreover, Plaintiff is listed as the user of the cellular phone number to which thedssage
was delivered.

Here the legal theory underlyg Plaintiff's and the class’s claim awery similar, if not
identical they arise from the same conduct, the legal bases are the same, and the factaare simi
(if not identical) Plaintiff has satisfied Rule 23(a)typicality requiremest

iv. Adequacy of Protection of Class I nterests

Rule 23(a)(4) requires that “the representative parties will fairly aeguedely protect the
interests of the class.” There are two separate inquiries under this segtiwhether there are
any substantial conflicts of interest between the named representativesctesth and the class
members; and (2) whether the representatives will adequately prosecadtioh See Busby, 513

F.3dat 1323(citing Valley Drug Co., 350 F.3dat 1189). This requirement serves to uncover any

12



conflict of interest that named parties may have with the class they repr@sedimchem
Products, Inc., v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 6271997). Under this section, the Court must also
consider the competency and any conflicts that the class counsel ma$§deadeat 65, n. 20.

Defendants do not argue that any conflict of interest elettgeen Plaintiff and the class
members. Moreover, it appears that Plaintiff will adequately prosecutectiois. &ee Doc. 54-1.
Plaintiff hassatisfied Rule 23(&3 adequacy requiremew{nd the record supports thBRtaintiff's
counsel would badequate class couns€lory Fein hagxperiencditigating various class action
lawsuits and courts have approved him as counsel in previous aSseisc. 54-3.

d. Reguirementsunder Rule 23(b)

Plaintiff argues certification is appropriate pursuant to Federal Ruavidf Procedure
23(b)(3).To satisfy the class certificatiorequirement under Rule 23(b)(3), common questions
must predominate over questions that affect only individual members and theti@ssnaist be
a superior method for “fdy and efficienty adjudicathg the controversy Fed.R. Civ. P.
23(b)(3). Thus,Rule 23(b)(3)requires a showing opredominance and increased efficiency
(superiority).

i. Predominance

The issues raised in the class action that are subject to generalized procdtaae th
applicable to the class as a whole “must predominate over those issues thatemteosiypjto
individualized proof.’Babineau v. Fed. Exp. Corp., 576 F.3d 1183, 1191 (11th Cir. 2009) (quoting
Kerr v. City of West Palm Beach, 875 F.2d 1546, 1558 (11th Cir. 1989)). “Common issues will
not predominate over individual questions if, ‘as a practical matter, the resolutican]of [
overarching common issue breaks down into an unmanageable variety of individuahtkgal a

factual isses.” Id. at 1191 (quotingAndrews v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 95 F.3d 1014, 1023 (11th

13



Cir. 1996)). The Court should not certifyckass if it appears that most of the plaingftlaims
have highly casspecific factual issueSeeid.

Here, he clasglaimspredominate over any individual legal and factual isslie class
is limited tofacts concerning the delivery ohe text messagen onedate.The central common
issues in this case are whetlifendants used an ATDS to send the text message, and, if s
whether Defendants’ actions were willflihese common issupsedominate over other questions
such as whether certain listed telephone numbers are associated with celloés Ahd, the
common issues may lokecided uniformly for all class membetherefore, Plaintiff has met this
requirement.

ii. Superiority of Class Action

Rule 23 requires a finding that “[the] class action is superior to other availathledador
fairly and efficiently adjudicating the controversyéd. R. Civ. P23(b)(3).The Court looks to
the four non-exclusive factors listed in Rule 23(b)(3):

(A) the class membeérsnterests in individually controlling the prosecution or
defense of separate actions;

(B) the extent and nature of any litigation concerning the controversgyalbegun
by or against class members;

(C) the desirability or undesirability of concentratithe litigation of the claims in
the particular forum; and

(D) the likely difficulties in managing a class action.

It is unlikely that the individual class members would have any interest in instituting a
lawsuit or in controlling their own indivigal actiongyiven the modest statutory recovery available
and the mosthndistinguishable fact pattern applicable to the claiiitee alternative-having

numerousindividual claims for damages arising out of the same condwoiuld be neither

14



efficient nor fairto Defendard or the classmembersgiven the circumstances of the case.
Moreover, neither party offers evidence that any class member has semegi\ag litigation.
Finally, difficulties in managing a class action such as this one would liketyirdmal. Plaintiff
has established the requirements of Rule 23(b)(3).

Accordingly, it isORDERED:

1. Plaintiff's Motion for Class CertificatiorfDoc. 54) and Suppenment to Motion for
Class Certification (Doc. 74reGRANTED.

2. The Court certifies the following class:

All cellular telephone subscribers in the United States who had a
phone number listed in the Call Logs (filed at Docket Nos5 54
through 549), where he Call Logs’ entry for the phone number
reflects that the June 30, 2017 “Obama Care” text message was
“delivered” in the “Status” column; and where the phone number
was assigned to a cell phone (as opposed to a landline or VolP line)
on June 30, 2017.

3. The Court approves John Northrap Class Representative and his couri3aly
S. Fein as Class Counsel.

4, The parties are provided thirty (30) days from the date of this Order to confer on a
class notice plan anglsues that may arise associated with the administration of the classnigclud
the form and content of the notice, and the establishment of aubpériod and procedure, and
shall advise the Courtfdhese efforts and whether there are issues tlupiireesthe Couit

resolution.

DONE AND ORDERED in Tampa, Florida odanuary2, 2019.

A A

{_ } ": i, :_ By o .I:.? ._,{. LA _.'I LA, l.-':\_ il -}"'.I..::.-‘ ne g v, L l':ll. I‘_ =
]

Charlenes Edwards Honeywell .
United States District Judge

Copies to:
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Counsel of Record and Unrepresented Parties, if any
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